
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 3RD OCTOBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

OPEN SESSION

Fact Finding Visits

3. Planning and Regulatory Fact Finding Visit - 
19.09.2018 

5 - 6

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991

4. P/16/0094 - Blaen y Garth Farm, Blaen y Garth 
Access Road, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 2UY 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 7 - 26

5. P/18/0209 - Former Mackintosh Hotel, Aberfan 
Road, Aberfan, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 27 - 36

Information Reports

6. Appeal Decision - P/18/0115 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 37 - 40

7. Delegated Report 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 41 - 46



CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (12, 13 ) under 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972

Licensing

8. Private Hire Vehicle Licence 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 47 - 54

RE-OPENED SESSION

Other Business

9. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors  H Barrett (Chair) 
                    C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:  J Amos, D Chaplin, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING AND 
REGULATORY FACT FINDING 

VISITS MEETING
WEDNESDAY, 19TH SEPTEMBER, 2018

PRESENT: Councillors:  H Barrett (Chair)
                     C Tovey (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:  M Colbran, E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, 
G Lewis, J Thomas and S Thomas

Officers:
H Roberts (Group Leader Development Control), G Coughlan 
(Senior Assistant Engineer), M Ferreira (Planning Officer) and
M Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

1  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J 
Amos and Councillor D Chaplin.

2  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were received.

3  P/18/0209 - Former 
Mackintosh Hotel, 
Aberafn Road, 
Aberfan, Merthyr Tydfil

The Chair formally opened the meeting and referred to the 
Council’s Constitution whereby the public in attendance are 
unable to address the Committee.

The Planning Officer introduced the application to the 
committee and highlighted the proposals for the site.

The following questions were raised by the committee and 
answered in detail by the Town Planning and Highways 
Officer in attendance.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 Number of parking bays available on site
 Lack of parking provision locally
 Congestion in surrounding area
 Internal and external condition of the building
 What publicity had been carried out in relation to 

the application
 Removal of proposed bike stands to create an 

addition parking bay
 Demolition of rear wall and extension to create 

parking bays
 Concern that local properties would be devalued if 

application was granted
 If property was re-open as a public house could 

they rent rooms without the need to submit a 
planning application

 Would there be time constraints on deliveries and 
construction work to limit disruption at peak times

 Clarification was sort in relation to the use of the 
ground floor

 Concern was raised in relation to overlooking at the 
rear of the property due to the installation of 
additional windows 

4  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair thanked the Officers and Councillors for their 
attendance and advised that there was no other business 
deemed urgent and closed the meeting.

Page 6



 
 

DATE WRITTEN 24 September 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 3rd October 2018 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0094 30th March 2016 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Creation of tourist holiday park 
comprising 57 camping and 
caravan pitches.  The restoration 
and change of use of the farm 
house to accommodate an office, 
store rooms and shop.  
Conversion and extension to 
existing barn to provide tourist 
information area and cafe.  
Erection of two amenity buildings 
and construction of a new 
vehicular access road, 
landscaping and associated 
infrastructure works 

Blaen-y-Garth Farm 
Blaen-Y-Garth Access 
Road 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2UY 
 

Beacons Leisure Limited  
c/o Bernard Eacock Ltd 
F.a.o. Mr B Eacock 
1 Fine Street 
Peterchurch 
Herefordshire    

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



PURPOSE OF REPORT 

To further consider planning application P/16/0094 

 

At the Planning Regulatory and Licensing Committee meeting on the 5th September 2018, it 
was again resolved to defer the determination of the application to undertake a further 
consultation exercise with Western Power Distribution. Concerns were raised by Councillor 
Clive Jones that there was potential for the overhead power lines and adjacent electricity 
pylon to pose a health and safety risk to visitors of the proposed holiday park. In particular, it 
was suggested that this may be the case in the event of the pylon being struck by lightning 
and the subsequent impact a damaged pylon and/or cables may have on visitors. 

 

As requested by Committee, a further consultation letter was sent (via recorded delivery) to 
Western Power Distribution (WPD) on the 7th September 2018. 

 

A response was received from WPD which notes that there are three overhead distribution 
lines crossing the site. Notably there is a 132kv line connecting to the pylon and two small 
(33,000kv and 11,000kv) lines mounted on wooden poles. WPD have confirmed that there is 
minimal risk to the development, particularly in respect of any lightning strikes. There are 
also safety measures (circuit breakers) in place in the event of any overvoltage. 

 

It was also noted by WPD that there is sufficient height in the existing overhead conductors 
to allow clearance for the proposed development once constructed. However, the 11kv line 
which provides power to the existing farm house may need to be routed underground, which 
would be agreed between the developer and WPD, along with any other safe working 
practices that would need to be followed. To ensure the developer is aware of the need to 
contact WPD, it is recommended that the following informative is attached to any permission: 

 

Before works commence on site, the applicant/developer is advised to contact Western 
Power Distribution in regards to any consents that may be required to develop near or under 
the existing power lines crossing the site.  

 

As such, there are no new issues that would alter the original recommendation to 
Committee. 

 

COMMITTEE’S DECISION IS REQUIRED. 

 

A copy of the original report to Committee and the report following the fact finding visit are 
reproduced below for committee’s convenience.  

 

At the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing Committee meeting on the 18th July 2018 it was 
resolved to defer the determination of the application to undertake a fact finding site visit. 
This took place on the 30th July 2018. The main issues discussed during the site visit related 
to the following: 

 

 Parking and signage for the site. 

 Provision of mains water and foul drainage. 

 The type of accommodation. 

 The use of the farm house when renovated. 

 Highway safety. 

 The presence of electricity pylons. 

 

Page 8



It was confirmed during the site visit that each of the caravan/camping pitches and mobile 
homes would have provision for parking either at or close to the respective pitches. 
Additional parking spaces and laybys would also be located near the farmhouse building 
where visitors arriving could park.  Any potential disruption within the site resulting from the 
arrival and departure of visitors would be managed as part of the operation of the Holiday 
Park. Furthermore, it was noted that the provision of signage within the car park and along 
the access would likely be put in place in order to help navigate visitors to the Holiday Park. 

 

It was acknowledged that Welsh Water did not raise any objection to the development and 
that it is not anticipated that there would be any issue providing a mains water supply to the 
site. The developer would need to seek separate consent/agreement with Welsh Water in 
respect of any additional connections to the water mains. A drainage scheme would be 
required by condition to ensure suitable foul drainage is provided. Where a connection to an 
existing sewerage system cannot be provided, an alternative option may include the 
provision of a septic tank.  

 

Concerns were raised about the potential for the caravan pitches/mobile homes being used 
for residential purposes. A condition would be imposed to ensure the development is only 
occupied as holiday accommodation and not as any person’s sole or main place of 
residence. In this respect, a register would also be required, which contains details of the 
visitors, including their home address and their arrival/departure dates. 

 

The position of the new access road serving the development was identified during the site 
visit. It was noted that the access would be set back from the junction on to the main 
highway and any traffic associated with the development would be directed along a separate 
route leading to the Holiday Park. The highway safety implications of the development are 
discussed in detail in the original committee report attached below. 

 

It was highlighted by Members that electric pylons extend across the site and concerns were 
raised as to whether this posed a health and safety issue for the potential users of the site. 
In the absence of any response from Western Power during the consultation process, it was 
requested that a further consultation be undertaken to seek their view. However, an 
appropriate statutory consultation process has already been carried out. It is then for the 
consultee to determine whether they have any particular issues they wish to raise in respect 
of the proposed development and to provide an appropriate response. In the absence of any 
comments it is typically taken that the consultee has no adverse concerns. National Grid has 
produced a guidance document for ‘Development near Overhead Lines’. Essentially, the 
document indicates the main impact that is considered to be derived from overhead power 
line, is one of visual impacts on the landscape and residential amenity. Apart from 
particularly tall structures that may otherwise impact on the powerlines, there is no reason 
why development cannot occur underneath. Nor is there any indication to suggest that 
development located underneath power lines would pose a health and safety risk. Indeed 
there are examples of this occurring in other parts of the County Borough. Therefore, the 
location and nature of the proposed development would not be adversely affected by the 
overhead power lines. 

 

The merits of the proposed development are considered in detail in the ‘planning 
considerations’ section of the report below. The points raised at the fact finding site visit do 
not highlight any new issues that would alter the original recommendation to Committee. 

 

COMMITTEE’S DECISION IS REQUIRED. 

 

A copy of the original report to Committee is reproduced below for committee’s convenience.  

Page 9



APPLICATION SITE 

 

This application relates to an area of grassland within the open countryside measuring 
approximately 3.6 hectares. The site is located in the northern part of the County Borough, 
adjacent (north-east) to the Brecon Mountain Railway and 0.2km to the north-west of Pant. 
The site is also situated approximately 1.3km to the south of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park. 

 

The site itself comprises 3 field enclosures with a number of trees and hedgerows scattered 
along the boundaries. In the northern part of the site is a farmyard together with the former 
Blaen Y Garth farmhouse and barn, which is in a dilapidated condition due to the loss of its 
roof, which has resulted in significant damage to its interior. It is noted that the farmhouse is 
a Grade II listed building. It appears that the farmhouse has not been occupied for a 
considerable length of time and the barn has been used for storage and the keeping of 
animals. 

 

A former railway line runs along the southern boundary of the site which is defined as a 
raised embankment and is intersected by an existing stone track that provides access to the 
farmhouse. This track links to the car parking area serving the Brecon Mountain Railway (to 
the south-west), with access then on to the main highway (a link road between Pant and 
Pontsticill to the north).  

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

 

Full planning permission is sought for the creation of a tourist holiday park to accommodate 
a total of 57 camping and caravan pitches, comprising 20 mobiles homes, 14 touring 
caravan pitches, 15 tent pitches and 8 glamping pods. Additionally, two amenity buildings 
are proposed, which would provide toilet and showering facilities. There would be a change 
of use and restoration of the existing farmhouse to accommodate an office, store room and 
shop, together with the conversion and extension of the barn to provide a tourist information 
area and café. 

 

The restoration of the farmhouse would involve the provision of a new slate roof, the 
installation of new timber framed sash windows and timber doors, together with a new lime 
wash finish to the external elevations. The existing modern porch would be removed and 
replaced with a new timber canopy. Additionally, the existing dry stone walls adjoining and 
surrounding the farmhouse would be restored. The internal layout of the farmhouse would 
remain unchanged. 

 

The existing barn comprises an original stone built structure with a pitched slate roof, which 
is in fairly good condition. Attached to one side is a dilapidated steel profiled clad shed which 
has been used to accommodate animals. It is proposed that this element of the building be 
removed and replaced with a new extension of a similar scale to accommodate part of the 
proposed café. The extension would measure 5.6m wide by 10.5m deep and 2.5m high with 
a flat roof. The external finishes would comprise timber cladding on the external elevations 
together with a glazed corridor linking the extension to the original barn structure. 

 

One of the toilet/shower blocks (amenity building 1) would be located to the north (rear) of 
the barn to serve nearby glamping pods and tent pitches. This building would measure 15m 
wide by 5.6m deep and 4.3m high with a pitched roof. The other amenity building would be 
located to the south-east of the farmhouse adjacent to large stone walls, which appear to be 
the remains of a former building/structure. This amenity building would measure 15m by 
5.6m deep and 4.3m high with a pitched roof. The external finishes of both amenity buildings 

Page 10



would comprise render on the elevations with a slate roof and would include 2.3m high stone 
walls that screen the entrances. 

 

The proposed mobile homes would be located within the south-east part of the site and 
would generally be of a simple timber construction with elongated windows and a large 
glazed entrance. Each mobile home would be pre-fabricated and of the same design 
measuring 6.7m wide by 11.9m deep and 2.9m high with a flat roof. Each unit would also 
incorporate a small decked area to provide external amenity space. 

 

The proposed touring caravan and tent pitches would be provided at the centre of the site, 
together with two ponds, which would help support a sustainable drainage system. In the 
northern extent of the site, glamping pods would be provided, which generally consist of a 
canvas structure measuring 5.6m wide by 8m deep and 3.1m high. 

 

Although a detailed landscaping scheme has not been provided, the submitted plans 
illustrate the development would involve the restoration of existing stone boundary walls, the 
planting of trees alongside the new tracks within the site and scattered amongst the various 
pitches. A woodland area would also be provided in the south-east corner of the site. 

 

To accommodate the development a new access track into the site is proposed, which would 
vary between 3.9m and 5.5m wide over a length of 170m. This track would provide a new 
link between the Brecon Mountain Railway carpark and the existing track serving the 
farmhouse. Additionally, a network of new tracks would be formed within the site to provide 
access to the respective camping/caravan pitches along with some parking bays. The main 
tracks and parking bays would be surfaced with compacted Whindust and the secondary 
tracks and hardstanding areas for the touring caravans would be constructed using an ‘X-
Grid’ grass road system. 

 

The application has been supported by the following documents: 

 

 Planning Statement 

 Viability Assessment 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Heritage Statement 

 Heritage Assessment 

 Transport Statement 

 Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

 Ecological Survey 

 Landscape Appraisal and Photomontages 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 

P/16/0095 - Listed building application for the conversion of Blaen-Y-Garth Farm  

House, including internal and external restoration works, to 
accommodate an office, store room and shop, as part of a tourist 
holiday park development.  The conversion of existing barn, including 
the demolition of a side annexe with associated internal and external 
works, to provide a tourist information area and café 

 

This application is currently under consideration. 

 

Page 11



CONSUTLATION 

 

Internal consultees 

 

Engineering and Traffic 

Group Leader  - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

retaining works, surface water drainage and 
access details. 

Planning Division’s 

Policy Group Leader  - No objection. 

 

Planning Division’s 

Conservation Officer  - No objection. 

 

Planning Division’s 

Countryside Officer  - No objection subject to a condition relating to  

 ecological mitigations. 

 

Planning Division’s 

Landscape Architect  - No objection subject to a condition relating to  

 landscaping details. 

 

Rights of Way Division  - No response. 

 

Environmental Health Manager  - No response. 

 

Local Resilience Unit  - No objection. 

 

External consultees 

 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW)  - No objection. 

 

Glamorgan Gwent  

Archaeological Trust  - No objection subject to conditions relating to a  

programme of historic building recording and 
an archaeological watching brief. 

 

Cadw  - No objection. 

 

Health & Safety Executive  - No objection. 

 

South Wales Police  - No response. 

 

Welsh Water  - No objection subject to a condition for the  

 submission of a drainage scheme. 

 

Western Power Distribution  - No response. 

 

Wales & West Utilities  - No response. 

 

 

Page 12



Neighbouring authorities 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 

County Borough Council - No objection. 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority - No response. 

 

PUBLICITY 

 

In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, a letter was sent to Garth Farm (adjoining property) on the 8th April 
2016, 6 site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on the 14th April 2016 and a 
notice was advertised in the local newspaper on the 14th April 2016. A further consultation 
exercise was undertaken, following amendments to the proposed access and a reduction in 
the number of mobile home pitches. This comprised a letter sent to Garth Farm and 6 site 
notices displayed around the site on the 10th April 2018. 

 

As a result of these consultation exercises a total of 2 letters of objections were received 
which raised the following concerns: 

 

 The proposed tourist caravan and camping park would attract additional traffic along 
Pant Road which is already a busy road at peak times and would present an issue for 
the residents of Pant. 

 The proposed development is not located within the settlement boundary and the 
countryside location is not fully justified. 

 The development would have an unacceptable impact on the local landscape and 
would have an adverse effect on the natural heritage and historic landscapes. 

 The design of the proposal is substandard. 

 The site is located within a local mineral safeguarding zone. 

 The development would sever well established local rights of way. 

 The scheme does not provide community benefits in the form of public access. 

 

POLICY CONTEXT 

 

The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 

 

National planning policy 

 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 9, November 2016: 

 

Section 4 – Planning for Sustainability 

 

Para 4.6.3 highlights the priorities for rural areas; these are to secure, amongst other 
outcomes, a thriving and diverse local economy where agriculture-related activities are 
complemented by sustainable tourism and other forms of employment in a working 
countryside 

 

Para’s 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 set out the principles of good design in new development proposals, 
which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. Regard should be 
given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and quality of building design and 
should also be accessible for all. 

Page 13



Section 5 – Conserving and Improving Natural Heritage and the Coast 

 

Para’s 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 note that the impact a development proposal may have on wildlife or the 
landscape is an important consideration in determining applications. Where ever possible 
adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or acceptably minimised. 

 

Chapter 6 – Conserving the Historic Environment 

 

Para 6.5.11 highlights that there should be a general presumption in favour of the 
preservation of a listed building and its setting. Where a development proposal affects a 
listed building or its setting, the primary material consideration is the statutory requirement to 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building, its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. It is also noted that whilst the 
continuation or reinstatement of the original use should generally be the first option, it is also 
recognised that there is a need for flexibility where new uses have to be considered in order 
to secure a building’s survival or provide it with a sound economic future. 

 

Para 6.5.29 – 6.5.30 notes that enabling development can deliver substantial heritage 
benefits that would be contrary to other objectives of national or local planning policy. Such 
development may be appropriate if the public benefit of rescuing, enhancing, or even 
endowing an important historic asset decisively outweighs the harm to other material 
interests. 

 

Section 7 – Economic Development 

 

Para 7.1.3 indicates the planning system should support economic and employment growth 
alongside social and environmental consideration within the context of sustainable 
development. 

 

Para 7.6.1 encourages local planning authorities to adopt a positive and constructive 
approach to applications for economic development taking account of the likely economic 
benefits i.e. creation of jobs, regeneration priorities and enhancing employment 
opportunities. 

 

Section 8 - Transport 

 

Para 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport implications may 
occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport provision, accessibility and 
highway safety. 

 

Section 11 – Tourism, Sport and Recreation 

 

Para 11.1.1 makes the point that tourism is vital to economic prosperity and job creation in 
many parts of Wales. It is a significant and growing source of employment and investment, 
based on the country’s cultural and environmental diversity. Tourism can be a catalyst for 
environmental protection, regeneration and improvement in both rural and urban areas. 

Para 11.3.3 highlights the need to consider the effects of sport and recreation on 
neighbouring uses in terms of noise, light emissions, traffic generation and in the case of 
larger developments, ease of access and the safety of residents, users and the public. 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



Technical Advice Notes (TAN): 

 

 TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities, July 2010 

 TAN 11 Noise, October 1997 

 TAN 12 Design, March 2016 

 TAN 16 Sport, Recreation and Open Space, January 2009 

 TAN 18 Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 23 Economic Development, February 2014 

 

Local planning policy 

 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021: 

 

 Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 Policy BW5 - Natural heritage 

 Policy BW6 - Townscape and built heritage 

 Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 Policy BW10 - Mineral safeguarding 

 Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 Policy BW16 - Protecting / enhancing the network of leisure facilities 

 Policy AS4 - Historic landscape 

 Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 

 

 SPG 2 Planning Obligations, March 2012 

 SPG 4 Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5 Nature and Development, May 2015 

 

Other material considerations 

 

Destination Management Plan 2016-2018 

 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

Principle of the development 

 

The application site is located outside of the settlement boundary and as such the proposal 
constitutes a countryside development as defined by policy BW4 of the LDP. Development in 
such locations can be supported in principle where it relates to tourism, recreation or leisure 
facilities, where a countryside location is fully justified. 

A Viability Assessment (VA) has been submitted in support of the application in order to 
justify the location of the development and draws reference to the Council’s Destination 
Management Plan (DMP), which seeks to promote and strengthen the tourism offer within 
the County Borough. It is acknowledged that there has been a growth in tourism with a 
number of new and improved facilities such as Bike Park Wales and the Welsh International 
Climbing Centre. Combined with this, the VA notes that since 2013 there has been a steady 
increase in the provision of accommodation within the County Borough and that the DMP 

Page 15



seeks to improve the range of tourist accommodation to encourage short and long stay 
vacationers. In this respect the VA acknowledges that there is only 1 caravan/camping site in 
the County Borough, with no sites that currently offer static caravans/chalets. As such, the 
proposal seeks to address this gap in the market and widen the tourism accommodation 
offer.  

 

The VA highlights that the site is suitably located with excellent transport links via the Heads 
of the Valleys Road and along the local highway network. Additionally, it is ideally located 
close the Brecon Beacons National Park, which provides a wide range of outdoor activities 
and recreational pursuits. In the immediate vicinity of the site, there is the Brecon Mountain 
Railway and the Morlais Golf Club, as well as national cycle routes with good links to other 
attractions. Taking into consideration the location of the site and its relationship with a 
number of tourist attractions in the area, its links to the surrounding area, not least its close 
proximity to the National Park, the development is reasonably justified in the countryside 
location.  

 

Notwithstanding the tourism benefits of the development, it should also be noted that part of 
the proposal includes the restoration and conservation of a Grade II Listed Building. 
Presently the Blaen Y Garth farmhouse is unoccupied and in a significant state of disrepair. 
Given the current state of the building and the fact that it has been vacant for a considerable 
length of time, it is likely that the building would continue to deteriorate to the detriment of the 
longevity of the building and the loss of its special qualities. The proposal would not only 
enable the restoration of the building and prevent it from further deterioration, it would also 
enable the building to be brought back into beneficial use and would be more accessible to 
the public as a result of the overall development. This in turn has a benefit to the historic 
environment, which also contributes to the tourism offer within the County Borough. 
Therefore the principle of the development complies with policy BW4 of the LDP. 

 

Design and landscaping 

 

The layout of the development has been informed by the presence of a number of features 
within the site, in particular the existing field boundary enclosures and the undulating 
topography. The main bulk of the development (comprising the mobiles homes, touring 
caravan pitches and the majority of the camping pitches) would be located in the largest of 
the three field areas, within the southern half of the site, which slopes down from the farm 
house. This enables the main elements of the development to be positioned away from the 
farmhouse in order to reduce the impact on its immediate setting. Although the caravans and 
mobile homes would inevitably be visible from the farmhouse, the separation distance and 
change in levels would help to maintain some appreciation of the existing setting. 

 

The proposed pitches would generally be positioned around a central gravel access track 
with smaller tracks that spur off to some of the outer pitches. The use of Whindust and a 
grass road system for the surfacing of the access tracks and hardstanding areas would be in 
keeping with the countryside environment and enables the development to integrate with the 
landscape. 

 

As an integral part of the development, the Grade II listed farmhouse is to be converted from 
its former residential use to an office with a shop and store room. The listed building would 
be a focal point to the development for visitors arriving at the site. The proposal to fully 
restore the exterior of the building, including the construction of a new roof, doors, windows 
and canopy, along with the restoration of its interior, would have a significant improvement 
on the overall quality and appearance of the building that enhances the character of the 
area. The alterations to the farmhouse will also be fully considered as part of the listed 
building application P/16/0095. Furthermore, the conversion of the building to accommodate 

Page 16



facilities for the holiday park would provide a viable use to the building that ensures its 
longevity and appreciation in the public interest. 

 

The presence of caravans and tents within the site would vary with the holiday seasons. 
However, the mobile homes and amenity buildings would be more permanent features of the 
site and as such would have a greater impact on the character of the area. The mobile 
homes would essentially be timber cabins, which have a modern appearance accentuated 
by large bi-folding doors on the front elevations and elongated windows. The use of a flat 
roof with an extended overhang to provide a canopy above an area of decking also adds to 
the modern design, whilst reducing the overall visible bulk of the structures within the 
landscape. Two amenity buildings would be located near the farmhouse, which would 
provide toilet/shower facilities for the caravan and camping/glamping pitches. The Design & 
Access Statement (DAS) notes that these buildings have been designed to adopt a 
traditional mass, scale and form that reflects the vernacular of the farmhouse. The DAS also 
considers that these permanent structures would form a small group of buildings around the 
farmhouse in much the same way as a farmstead would traditionally be formed. Their 
external finishes would comprise a combination of render, stonework and slate, which would 
complement the traditional materials used on the farmhouse and barn. 

 

The proposed caravan pitches would be situated approximately 50m away from the listed 
farm house. Given the nature of caravans, they would appear as alien features to the 
landscape. The proposed caravan pitches would be located at the centre of the site where 
the land generally dips down and would be partly screened by the undulating land and 
embankments, including the former railway line. There are also a number of intervening 
trees adjacent to the farm house and along the boundaries of the site, which would help to 
reduce the impact of the caravans on the setting of the listed building and surrounding 
landscape. The impact of the caravans on the landscape would also considerably diminish 
depending on the seasonal demand. The glamping pods (approx. 65m to the north of the 
farm house) would also be partly screened by the existing barn and surrounding trees. 

 

The proposed extension to the barn would be of a modern design that draws reference to 
the form and scale of the existing attached dilapidated metal shed. The extension would be 
seen as a juxtaposition of the barns original features, with its contrasting roof profile and 
external finishes. This is further emphasised by the glazed corridor that combines the two 
elements together. Within a historic context, the extension would be clearly read as a 
modern addition that complements and emphasises the special qualities of the farm house 
and barn. 

 

The general layout and design of the proposal has clearly been informed by the need to 
minimise the impact of the development on both the qualities of the landscape and the 
setting of the listed building. In this regard a Landscape Appraisal (LA) has been submitted 
in support of the application. The LA concludes that it is the historic qualities of the site and 
surrounding landscape character, which is most sensitive to change. The LA notes that the 
changes to the agricultural field pattern within the site are considered to be significant, 
largely because of the historic value placed on the area. However, the LA acknowledges that 
the field boundaries would be retained and restored, which would improve the quality of 
these features. Furthermore, the LA considers the built form and settlement pattern would 
only be altered locally and would not impact on the wider historic landscape. 

 

When considering the visual impacts of the development in the wider area, over a 10 year 
period (allowing for the proposed landscaping to mature), the LA notes the most significant 
effect would be experienced by visitors to Pant Cemetery, due to the angle of views which 
may not be fully screened. Photomontages have been submitted, which illustrate the mobile 
homes would be the most visible element of the development from Pant Cemetery, with the 

Page 17



remaining part of the proposal, in the main, being screened by existing and proposed trees. 
The low profile of the mobile homes and the use of timber cladding on the elevations, would 
enable the development to integrate into the landscape without significant harm to the views 
from Pant Cemetery. The proposal would not appear as a stark feature in the landscape that 
overly dominants the views from the cemetery or the recognition of other features within the 
landscape. Additionally, given the location of the development (approx. 200m) from Pant 
Cemetery, the proposal would not adversely impinge on its peaceful environment. 

 

It is accepted that the very nature of the development will undoubtedly have an impact on 
the character of the area and the setting of the listed building, by virtue of its presence within 
an otherwise undeveloped area of the countryside. Notwithstanding this, the undulating 
landform and provision of additional tree planting across the site helps to reduce some of the 
impacts. This combined with the design of the permanent buildings and retention/restoration 
of field boundaries, ensure that the development could be accommodated within the 
landscape without significant harm to the surrounding area. It is acknowledged that the 
Planning Division’s Landscape Architect has not raised any objection to the proposal subject 
to details of a comprehensive landscaping scheme being provided, which can be secured by 
condition. Therefore, the proposal complies with policies BW5 and BW7 of the LDP. 

 

Historic environment 

 

The proposed development is located within a Landscape of Historic Interest as defined by 
policy AS4 of the LDP. There are also a number of historic assets within the site and close to 
its boundaries, namely the Grade II listed Baen Y Garth Farmhouse at the heart of the 
development and the Grade II listed Ventilation Shafts, which form part of the Morlais Tunnel 
and are located adjacent to the new access road. In the wider area is the Morlais Hill Ring 
Cairn and Morlais Castle (within 1km to the west of the site) which are both Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments (SAMs). 

 

In support of the application a Heritage Assessment (HA) has been carried which considers 
the potential impact on the historic landscape and historic assets. In terms of the SAMs, the 
report concludes that due to various intervening features and buildings within the landscape 
the development would not harm the significance of these assets. Cadw have indicated that 
although there would some inter-visibility between the development and the SAMs, the 
proposal would not adversely impact on the setting, interpretation or understanding of these 
designated monuments. As such, Cadw have not raised any objection to the development. 

 

The proposed new access into the site would be located approximately 30m away from the 
Grade II listed Ventilation Shafts, which are situated next to the Brecon Mountain Railway 
building and on the southern edge of the car parking. The creation of a new access road 
within the vicinity of these structures, which runs parallel with the existing car park, would 
have the potential to impact on their setting. Due to the presence of modern development in 
the vicinity of the ventilation shafts, the HA considers their setting to have some capacity for 
change. Given the siting of the new access and the presence of the existing carpark, there 
would only be a slight change to the setting of the Ventilation Shafts, which would not cause 
harm to their significance or appreciation. 

 

The Historic Assessment notes that the proposal falls within the Garth and Blaen-y-Garth 
Historic Landscape Character Area (HLCA). The significance of this HLCA is associated with 
the rural character of the landscape and its ties to the historic farmsteads. As a result of the 
abandonment of the farm house, the building has fallen into severe disrepair. The HA 
acknowledges that the development would bring a change to the character of the fields as 
the pasture paddocks would be replaced by camping areas with associated infrastructure 
and planting. Nevertheless, this change would also bring other benefits to the area. Notably 

Page 18



the restoration of the Grade II listed farmhouse, which would be brought back into beneficial 
use as a result of the development.  

 

The Heritage Statement submitted in support of the application reviews the critical condition 
of the farmhouse, which has significantly deteriorated in recent years following the loss of its 
roof. It is clear that the occupation of the building in connection with an agricultural use is no 
longer viable. As such, the survival of the building depends crucially on it being utilised as 
part of the proposed holiday park, which would enable its restoration and re-use. 
Additionally, the existing stone boundary walls and hedgerows, which define the field 
patterns and the setting to the listed building, would be enhanced, adding further value to the 
features that make up the qualities of the HLCA. Therefore, the historic benefits enabled by 
the development would considerably outweigh any potential harm caused to the overall 
historic environment. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW6 of the LDP. 

 

Natural environment 

 

An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey Report has been submitted in support of the 
application, to determine the potential impact on any protected species or habitats as a 
result of the proposed tourism development. Although the survey provides an assessment of 
the site, its study area was far greater than the area of land to be developed. As such, a 
number of ecological features were identified that would be a considerable distance away 
from the development. Subsequently a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal report was 
submitted, along with an Ecological Survey for bats to further refine the potential impacts of 
the development. These reports identified that the development would have the greatest 
potential to impact on bats and reptiles within the site. 

 

A number of features within the site were considered to have potential to be used by bats for 
roosting and foraging. Such features include the dilapidated farmhouse and barn, dry stone 
walls and a nearby tree. The bat survey concludes that despite the potential of the structures 
and a tree on the site to be used by bats for roosting, no evidence was gathered to confirm 
that such activity is occurring. It also notes that bats appear to pass through the site and on 
occasion forage there, but there was no evidence to show that they used the site for 
roosting. 

 

In terms of reptiles, the reports conclude that the majority of the grassland within the site has 
a low potential to be used by reptiles as the sward height is largely short and uniform. 
However, the presence of horse manure can attract reptiles together with dry stone walls 
which can offer shelter. Notwithstanding this, the Planning Division’s Countryside Officer has 
noted that large amounts of suitable habitats have been identified to the south-west, west 
and north of the site. This combined with the development proposal to retain boundary walls 
means the impact on reptiles is not likely to be significant. A number of recommendations 
are set out in the survey reports (which can be secured by condition) to mitigate for any 
potential impacts i.e. to accommodate bats in the roof space of the farmhouse, provision of 
bird boxes and dark areas/corridors. Therefore, the development would not have an adverse 
impact on protected species or habitats and would comply with policy BW5 of the LDP. 

 

Highway implications 

 

Access to the application site would be via the existing car park serving the Brecon Mountain 
Railway. No alterations are proposed to the existing junction from the car park onto the main 
highway. To determine the potential impact of the development on the existing highway 
network, a Transport Statement (TA) has been provided, which considers the suitability of 
the existing access into the car park and the traffic implications. 

Page 19



 

The TA notes that vehicles turning into the site either northbound or southbound could be 
adequately seen by following vehicles, and any occurrence of additional right turning traffic 
into the site (i.e. crossing lanes) would not lead to any significant queues or delays along the 
highway. In terms of the level of additional traffic likely to be generated by the development, 
the TA predicts a maximum of a 12 vehicles per hour to the site, or 1 vehicle every 15-20 
minutes north of the access and every 6-7 minutes south of the access. The TA concludes 
that all of the roads have adequate capacity to accommodate the relatively modest increase 
in traffic flows and the level of impact from the development would be negligible. 

 

The proposed new access track leading from the car park into the main part of the 
camping/caravan site would be privately maintained as part of the development and would 
link to the existing track serving the farmhouse. The position of this track would be a 
sufficient distance away from the junction onto the highway so as not to impede traffic 
movements in and out of the car park. Additionally, the provision of an access track that is 
separated from the car park would minimise any disruption to the visitors of the Brecon 
Mountain Railway. 

 

The network of shared surface tracks within the application, which would provide access to 
the various pitches, would be of an appropriate design within the rural setting. Additionally, 
the use of gravel surfaces and grass roads would enable surface water to be appropriately 
managed within the site. The parking needs for visitors would be met within the site, largely 
on each caravan pitch. Dedicated parking spaces would also be provided adjacent to the 
camping/glamping pitches as well as adjacent to the existing barn, which could be used for 
visitors on arrival. There is adequate room within the site to accommodate the traffic 
movements of the development with passing bays provided in appropriate locations. It is 
acknowledged that the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has not raised any highway 
safety concerns. Therefore, the proposal is acceptable and complies with policies BW12 and 
TB11 of the LDP. 

 

Residential amenity 

 

The nearest residential properties to the site are Garth Farm (to the east) and Pant-Cad-Ivor 
Cottages (to the south), both of which would be at least 0.2km away from the development. 
Additionally, the submitted plans illustrate a woodland area would be provided in the south-
east part of the site, which would offer additional screening of the development from the 
residential area of Pant. Taking into the account the location and context of the site, the 
development would not have an adverse impact on residential amenity in terms of loss of 
privacy, overbearing impacts or through excess noise and disturbance. In this respect, it is 
acknowledged that no such concerns have been raised by local residents following the 
publicity exercise undertaken. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW7 of the LDP. 

 

Representations 

 

A concern was raised that the development would sever well established local rights of 
ways. It is acknowledged that there is a right of way approximately 0.23km to the south-east 
of the site along Garth Lane. However, this does not extend towards the development and 
there are no other rights of way that cross through the site. Therefore, the development 
would have no impact on any existing right of way. 

 

It is acknowledged that the site lies within a limestone safeguard area as identified in the 
LDP. However, the development would only extend over a relatively small section of the 

Page 20



overall designation and would not sterilise or adversely hinder the future extraction of the 
mineral resource. 

 

Whilst the development does not include community benefits in the form of new public 
access, the proposal would provide other benefits to the area through the restoration of the 
listed building and its re-use, as well as the tourism and economic benefits. 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

 

The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into consideration 
when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, the ways of 
working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus the proposal is 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards 
one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of 
the WBFG Act. 

 

For the above reasons, the proposed development is acceptable and complies with the 
relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 

 

RECOMMENDATION:     BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS and the 
ISSUANCE OF THE LISTED BUILDING CONSENT (P/16/0095). 

 

 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 

  

 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents: 

  

 Drawing No. 04b - Cafe & Visitor Information centre, received 10.02.2018 

 Drawing No. 04d - Farmhouse as Proposed, received 30.04.2018 

 Drawing No. 04e - Mobile Home, received 03.03.2016 

 Drawing No. 04f - Glamping Tent, received 30.03.2016 

 Drawing No. 04g - Amenity Building 1, received 03.03.2016 

 Drawing No. 04h - Amenity Building 2, received 03.03.2016 

 Drawing No. 0002 - Existing & Proposed Site Plan, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0007 - Existing & Proposed Site Sections A, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0008 - Existing & Proposed Site Sections B, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0009 - Farmhouse Site Layout, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0011 - Gas Pipeline Analysis, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0012 - Landscaping Details, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0015 - Road Sections, received 02.03.2018 

 Drawing No. 0016 - Existing and Proposed Spot Levels, received 02.03.2018 

  

 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the scope 
of the permission. 

 

 3. The development, consisting of mobiles homes, caravans, glamping tents and 
camping pitches, shall be occupied as holiday accommodation only and shall not be 
occupied as a person's sole or main place of residence.  An up to date register shall 

Page 21



be kept at the holiday accommodation hereby permitted and be made available for 
inspection by the local planning authority upon request. The register shall contain 
details of the names of all of the occupiers of the accommodation, their main home 
addresses and their date of arrival and departure from the accommodation. 

  

 Reason - The site is unacceptable for permanent housing by reason of it's location in 
the open countryside in accordance with Policy BW4 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 

 4. Before the tourist holiday park hereby permitted is brought into beneficial use, the 
listed building (Blaen Y Garth Farmhouse) shall have been repaired and restored 
completely in accordance with the details approved by the listed building consent 
P/16/0095. 

  

 Reason - To ensure that the appearance of the proposed works will be in keeping 
with the special architectural and historic character of the listed building in 
accordance with Policy BW6 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

 5. Prior to works commencing on site details/samples of the materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the barn extension, mobile homes and 
glamping pods, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  

 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed development will 
be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining buildings in the interests of 
visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 

 6. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal of foul 
and surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the beneficial use of the development and retained in perpetuity. 

  

 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 
accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

 7. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations and 
facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details before the development 
hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  

 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 
of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan . 

  

8. Prior to works commencing on site, details for the construction of the new access 
road, compacted 'whindust' tracks, 'X-Grid grass road' system and hardstanding 
areas, as illustrated on drawing no. 0012 (Landscape Details), shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The access road, tracks and 
hardstanding areas shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior 
to the beneficial use of the holiday park and maintained as such thereafter. 

  

Page 22



 Reason - In the interests of road safety in accordance with Policies BW12 and TB11 
of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

 9. The siting of mobile homes, caravans, glamping tents and camping pitches shall be 
limited to the number and specific locations as indicated on the proposed site plan 
(Drawing No. 002, received 2nd March 2018). No additional mobile homes, caravans, 
glamping tents or camping pitches shall be located within the site. 

  

 Reason - To avoid intensification of the development within a countryside location, in 
the interests of the character and appearance of the area, highway safety and to 
accord with Policy BW5 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

10. No development shall take place until details of both hard and soft landscape 
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
These details shall include: 

  

 i)  A statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be delivered; 

 ii)  earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours; 

 iii)  means of enclosure and retaining structures, including the restoration/repairs to 
existing stone walls; 

 iv)  other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; 

 v)  hard surfacing materials; 

 vi)  minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 
storage units, signs, etc.), and 

 vi)  water features. 

  

 Soft landscape works shall include planting plans, written specifications (including 
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), 
schedules of plants noting species, plant supply sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate and an implementation programme (including 
phasing of work where relevant). 

  

 The hard landscaping works shall be completed in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the opening of the tourist holiday park to members of the public. 
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the opening of the 
tourist holiday park to members of the public or the completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from 
the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size 
and species. 

  

 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in a 
countryside location in the interests of amenity and to accord with Policies BW5 and 
BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

11. No development shall take place until a Wildlife Protection Plan for Construction 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
plan shall focus on bats, reptiles, nesting birds, trees and boundary walls/hedgerows 
and shall include: 

  

Page 23



 a.   An appropriate scale plan showing 'Wildlife Protection Zones' where construction 
activities are restricted and where protective measures will be installed or 
implemented; 

 b.  Details of protective measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid impacts during construction; 

 c.   A timetable to show phasing of construction activities to avoid periods of the year 
when sensitive wildlife could be harmed (such as nesting bird season). 

 d.   Persons responsible for: 

  

 i) Compliance with legal consents relating to nature conservation; 

 ii) Compliance with planning conditions relating to nature conservation; 

 iii) Installation of physical protection measures during construction; 

 iv) Implementation of sensitive working practices during construction; 

 v) Regular inspection and maintenance of physical protection measures and 
monitoring of working practices during construction; 

vi) Provision of training and information about the importance of the 'Wildlife 
Protection Zones' to all construction personnel on site.  

  

 All construction activities shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and timing of the plan. 

  

 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policy BW5 of the 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 

12. Prior to the opening of the tourist holiday park to members of the public, details 
of the external lighting scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. All works shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the opening of the tourist holiday park to members of the 
public and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 

  

 Reason - To minimise the impact of external lighting serving the development within 
a countryside location and in the interest of the environment for protected species 
and to accord with policies BW5 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development 
Plan. 

 

13. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors 
in title, has secured agreement for a written scheme of historic environment 
mitigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the local 
planning authority. Thereafter, the programme of work will be fully carried out in 
accordance with the requirements and standards of the written scheme. 

  

 Reason - To identify and record any features of archaeological interest discovered 
during the works, in order to mitigate the impact of the works on the archaeological 
resource and to accord with policy BW6 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development 
Plan. 

 

INFORMATIVES  

 

 1. The applicant / developer should be aware that it is an offence to intentionally or 
recklessly kill, injure or take any wild animal listed as protected in the Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. Further advice can be 
sought from the Planning Division's Countryside Officer on 01685 725278. 

Page 24



 

 2. Before works commence on site, the applicant/developer is advised to contact 
Western Power Distribution in regards to any consents that may be required to 
develop near or under the existing power lines crossing the site. 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

 

DATE WRITTEN 24th September 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 3rd October 2018 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0209 11th July 2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Change of use to 9 self contained 
flats at first and second floors.  
Retain ground floor use as A3 
use (for restaurant / cafe /coffee 
house), to include external 
alterations 

Former Mackintosh Hotel 
Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

ZAD Commercial UK Ltd  
c/o Varco Consultants Ltd 
F.a.o. Mr B Varma 
113 Park Crescent 
Barry 
CF62 6HE    

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To further consider planning application P/18/0209 
 
At the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing Committee meeting held on the 5th September 
2018 it was resolved to defer the determination of the application to allow members to 
undertake a fact finding site visit.  This took place on the 19th September 2018. 
 
The main planning related issues raised during the fact finding site visit centred on the 
proposed off-road parking facilities, existing on-street parking problems in the area and the 
highway safety issues associated with the proposed conversion of part of the building into 
flats. It was re-iterated at the site visit that the use of the lower ground floor (basement 
level) and ground floor as a restaurant/cafe/coffee house would not require planning 
permission. The impact on neighbouring residents, in terms of overlooking, was also 
discussed. All of these issues have been previously raised and are fully considered in the 
original committee report, thus the conclusions reached were simply re-iterated at the site 
visit.   
 
Therefore, the points raised at the fact finding site visit did not highlight any new issues that 
would alter the original recommendation to Committee.  
 
COMMITTEE’S DECISION IS REQUIRED. 
 
A copy of the original report to Committee is reproduced below for committee’s 
convenience.  
 
Councillor Roberts and Councillor Thomas have requested that this application be reported 
to committee in order to consider the concerns of local residents.   
 
APPLICATION SITE  
 
The application site comprises the Mackintosh Hotel, an attractive red brick three storey 
building with a rendered lower ground basement level. It is located in a prominent location 
at the junction of Angus Street and Aberfan Road. The large property has been unoccupied 
for over 10 years and although a number of windows and doors have been boarded up, 
externally it appears to be in a relatively good condition. The grassed area to the rear of the 
property is overgrown.  
 
The site is bound by Angus Street to the north, a rear access lane to the east (with 
residential properties beyond), residential properties to the south, and Aberfan Road to the 
west. There are double yellow lines along Aberfan Road and on the corner of Aberfan Road 
with Angus Street. There is also a bus stop on the opposite side of Aberfan Road. The 
premise has no off-street parking. 
 
The application premises lies within the settlement boundary – Other Growth Areas, as 
designated within the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021.  
  
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
This application seeks full planning permission to convert the first and second floor of the 
Mackintosh Hotel to 9, 1 bedroom self-contained flats.  These floors previously provided a 

Page 28



large function room, 7 hotel bedrooms and separate rooms for toilets, bathrooms and a 
kitchen area. The former public house at ground floor and storage areas at lower ground 
floor (basement level) are proposed to be used as a restaurant/coffee house/cafe. 
 
The first floor would accommodate 5, 1 bedroom flats, whilst the second floor would 
accommodate 4, 1 bedroom flats. Three new windows would be installed on the rear 
dormer projections at second floor level, to serve flats 3 and 4. New Upvc windows and 
doors are also proposed to be installed throughout the building, retaining the existing 
fenestration arrangement and door openings. This would include the addition of new Upvc 
windows to the side of the property at lower ground level (basement level) and two new 
Upvc windows on the rear ground floor elevation, all of which would replace the blocked up 
openings. A new Upvc window (and part render) would also replace a former door opening 
on the front elevation of the lower ground floor (basement level).    
 
The flats would be accessed at ground floor via an existing door to the right side of the front 
elevation and along an internal corridor leading to a staircase which provides access to the 
first and second floors. A 2 metre (approx.) high boundary wall and timber access gates at 
the rear of the premises would be removed and a hard standing/paving area would be laid 
to provide 5 vehicular parking spaces and 5 bicycle stands to serve the 9 flats.    
 
In respect of the lower ground floor (basement level) and ground floor, it should be noted 
that the use of the building as a restaurant/cafe/coffee house, would not require planning 
permission since it falls within the same use class as a public house (A3 use class). As 
such, the proposed use of the ground floor and lower ground floor (basement level) will not 
be considered as part of the assessment of this application.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The most recent and relevant planning history is noted below: 
 
P/03/0054 – Change of use from commercial use to residential use – Approved: 31st March 
2003 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader:    No objection. 
 
Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation Officer:  No objection.   
 
Environmental Health Manager     No response.  
 
Welsh Water:       No objection.   
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and 2 site notices were 
displayed within the vicinity of the premises.  
 

Page 29



A petition with 199 signatures and 5 letters of representation have been received which, in 
summary, raise the following concerns: 
 
1 - The creation of flats and the operation of a business, to accommodate residents, staff, 
deliveries and customers, would significantly increase the demand for car parking and 
make parking very difficult in an already congested area;  
 
2 – Each property along Angus Street already has 2 vehicles per household leaving the 
new tenants without any room to park, particularly since the visitors to the Aberfan Social 
Club already park on this street;  
 
3 - The restaurant/coffee house/cafe in particular would result in additional smells, noise 
and disturbances to nearby residents. It will also result in a lot of rubbish which may attract 
rats and other animals;       
 
4 – There is concern over the people who would reside in the flats;  
 
5 - The re-use of the building would overlook neighbours properties and rear gardens 
preventing the private use of this space and undermine the safety of children; 
 
6 – This development will devalue surrounding residential properties;  
 
7 – The building is so dilapidated that renovation works will involve skips and construction 
vehicles which will again affect resident’s accessibility and parking;  
 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) – Edition 9 (November, 2016) 
 
Paragraph 9.1.1 states that in terms of new housing developments, the Welsh Government 
will seek to ensure that: 
 

 Previously developed land is used in preference to greenfield sites; 

 New housing and residential environments are well designed, meeting national 
standards for the sustainability of new homes and making a significant contribution to 
promoting community regeneration and improving the quality of life; and that  

 The overall result of new housing development in villages, towns or edge of 
settlement is a mix of affordable and market housing that retains and, where 
practical, enhances important landscape and wildlife features in the development.  

 
Other relevant policy guidance consulted:  
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 2 – Planning and Affordable Housing; 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 – Design; 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18 – Transport; 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23 – Economic Development  
 

Page 30



Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 
Policy BW3 – Development Strategy – Other Growth Areas 
Policy BW4 – Settlement boundaries/locational constraints 
Policy BW7 – Sustainable design and placemaking 
Policy BW8 – Development and the water environment  
Policy BW12 – Development proposals and transport 
Policy BW17 – Securing community infrastructure benefits 
Policy AS22 – Affordable housing contributions  
Policy TB11 – Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)  
 
Note 1 – Affordable Housing (March 2012) 
Note 2 – Planning Obligations (March 2012) 
Note 4 – Sustainable Design (July 2013) 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
This application, seeks to provide 9 one bedroom self-contained flats by converting the 
Mackintosh Hotel. The key considerations in the assessment of this application relate to the 
impact that the proposed development would have upon the character and appearance of 
the existing building and the surrounding area, upon the privacy and amenity of 
neighbouring properties, and upon parking provision and highway safety. 
 
Principle of Development  
 
The scheme seeks to provide 9 residential units, arranged over the first and second floors.   
The building lies within settlement limits. It is also located within walking distance of the 
retail centre of Aberfan and within walking distance of a number of local amenities and 
facilities, such as a community centre, a school and a social club. The application site is 
also located off the main road through Aberfan (Aberfan Road), which is a main bus route 
with a bus stop sited immediately opposite the application site. It is also located in fairly 
close proximity to a railway station. It is considered that the re-use and conversion of the 
existing vacant building, sited in a sustainable location, would assist in the regeneration of 
the area and relieve pressure for additional development on greenfield sites. The proposal 
is therefore compatible with the surrounding land uses and is an acceptable form of 
development which would accord with LDP Policies BW3 and BW4.   
 
Character and appearance of the area 
 
The Mackintosh Hotel, is an attractive red brick (with rendered basement level) building 
located on a prominent corner plot, just off the main road through Aberfan. In order to 
convert the building it is necessary to carry out minor alterations to the external fabric of the 
building. This would include the addition of new windows and doors throughout the building, 
mainly within existing openings. New window openings however would be inserted in the 
projecting dormers on the second floor rear elevation. These would be consistent with the 
size and style of the existing openings and other proposed windows. These additional 

Page 31



openings seek to provide additional light to serve flats 3 and 4 without having an adverse 
impact on the appearance of the building. Thus, the proposal does not involve significant 
external changes to the primary elevations of the building.  As such, its historic and visually 
distinctive appearance, which positively contributes to the character and appearance of the 
area, would remain largely unaffected as a result of this application. Indeed, the re-use of a 
vacant dilapidated building, which would be largely retained in its current form, would 
benefit the visual amenity of the street scene. The development would therefore not detract 
from the character or appearance of the building or the wider street scene and would 
comply with LDP Policy BW7.   
 
Residential amenity 
 
The proposed development has been considered in respect of its impact on the amenities 
of nearby occupiers. Some of the concerns raised refer to the potential overlooking into 
neighbouring properties and the potential for additional noise and disturbance.  
 
The re-use of the building for residential purposes would not unduly compromise the 
amenities of nearby residents. It is noted that historically, the building has been used for 
functions and accommodation at first and second floors. The surrounding area is 
predominantly residential and the proposed use of the properties as flats would, in terms of 
noise and disturbance, have no significant detrimental impact on neighbouring residents.  
 
It is acknowledged that the Mackintosh Hotel is a prominent building in the street scene and 
has a number of the window openings, serving the rear of the building in particular, which 
although not directly facing, do overlook some of the neighbouring residential properties 
(such as 9, Angus Street and 1, Fronheulog Villas). In addition, three new window openings 
would be created at second floor level at the rear of the premises. However, given the 
distance between the properties and the applicant site, the relationship in terms of their 
siting and the fact that the majority of these windows relate to existing openings on this 
historic building, the proposal would not result in an unacceptable loss of privacy to the 
neighbouring terraced houses to the east, or the semi-detached properties to the south.  
 
With regards to the use of the proposed rear parking area for 5 vehicles and associated 
vehicle movements to and from the site, it is considered that the level of activity would not 
be so significant as to give rise to an unacceptable level of noise or disturbance that would 
harm the amenities of surrounding residents. Furthermore if the building reverted to its  
previous use that could result in customers and/or guests parking in surrounding streets 
with similar, if not greater, impacts in terms of noise and disturbance.  
 
As discussed above, there are no significant external alterations being proposed to the form 
and scale of the building and arguably the proposed residential use to provide 9, 1 bedroom 
flats, would be considered the least disruptive use to surrounding residential properties.  As 
such, the proposal would accord with LDP Policy BW7.  
 
Highway safety 
 
Usually 9 off street car parking spaces would be required to serve 9, 1 bedroom flats.  Due 
to the land available, in this instance, the proposed 9 flats would be served by 5 on-site 
vehicular parking spaces and 5 bicycle stands. These would be provided to the rear of the 
building, accessed off the rear lane.  

Page 32



 
The concerns raised by neighbouring residents with regard to the proposed use and the 
fact that it would exacerbate parking problems in the area are fully appreciated. However, 
the proposal has been considered in detail by the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader, 
who has not raised any objections to the proposed development. In arriving at this 
conclusion, careful consideration has been given to the key issues that affect this proposal. 
Notably, the established use, car and cycle parking provision, the location adjacent to a 
main road and bus route (with a bus stop opposite the application site), the proximity to a 
train station and the closeness to local amenities and facilities (such as shops, pharmacy, 
school and a community centre).  Given that the application site is located in a sustainable 
location where many day-to-day facilities can be accessed on foot, by bicycle or by using 
public transport, residents may choose not to own a car. The five car parking spaces and 
five bicycle stands proposed are therefore considered acceptable to serve this proposal. 
Furthermore, in terms of off-street parking and traffic movements, it is considered that the 
permitted use could result in greater demand for on-street parking, particularly if functions 
were again held in the building. It should also be noted that the site currently has no off-
street parking therefore the proposed conversion is beneficial in this respect. 
 
Thus, in this instance, it is not considered that the development would have a detrimental 
impact on highway safety or significantly impinge on the free flow of traffic in the area and 
would comply with LDP Policies BW12 and TB11.   
 
Planning Obligations  
 
Policies BW17 and AS22 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021 
consider the requirement for planning obligations and affordable housing contributions on 
all residential schemes.  On proposed residential developments of less than 10 units or 
where it can be demonstrated that on-site provision for affordable housing is not possible, 
the Council will require a financial contribution towards the provision of affordable housing 
elsewhere in the corresponding growth area of the LDP. 
 
The requirement for an affordable housing contribution towards the proposed development 
has been assessed by the Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation Group Leader.  In 
this instance no planning obligations for the provision of affordable housing or any other 
contributions have been sought as this would likely render the development financially 
unviable. In order to come to this conclusion, an assessment has been carried out using the 
Three Dragons Toolkit. 
 
Responses to Representations  
 
Many of the concerns raised by local residents have been considered above. Other 
concerns raised are addressed below: 
 
If the ground and lower ground floor (basement level) is used as a restaurant/coffee house/ 
cafe or any other A3 use and gives rise to smells, left over rubbish, noise and disturbance, 
these issues could be addressed by environmental health legislation and/or licensing, since 
the planning department have no control over such issues (i.e. such a use would not 
require planning permission).   
 

Page 33



The potential future occupiers of the proposed flats is not a matter that can be controlled by 
planning legislation and as such is not a material planning consideration in the assessment 
of this application. 
 
The loss of value of residential properties is not a material planning consideration under the 
assessment of this application;  
 
The refurbishment works could result in nuisances to neighbours, such as noise, 
disturbance and restricted access. However these issues are generally temporary and in 
this case, much of this work would be internal. Issues regarding noise and disturbance 
would generally be addressed by Environmental Health. Issues involving the blocking of 
accesses on the roads would be a matter for the Police.      
 
Conclusion  
 
The determination of this application requires careful judgement of each of the issues that 
the application raises, with particular regard to balancing the merits of such a proposal 
against any harmful impact such a scheme may pose. Objections have been received in 
relation to the likely impact such a proposal would have on parking provision and highway 
safety issues within the locality. While such concerns are appreciated and have been 
considered, the historic use of the site would have generated significant traffic movements 
and demand for parking spaces (and could again, should the building be re-opened as a 
public house with accommodation). This proposal does cater for some off-road parking 
provision and would bring this prominent building, located in a sustainable location, back 
into use, whilst retaining the building’s character, which is considered to outweigh any 
negative impact of the scheme.  
 

The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In this respect, it is noted that the Council’s 
Local Development Plan puts sustainability at its core.  Delivering a mix of quality housing 
through the re-use of vacant buildings or brownfield land, within existing settlements, is key.  
The ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus 
the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as 
required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 

Finally, having taken account of all the issues outlined above, the application is considered 
to be acceptable in planning terms and is in line with national and local policies.    
 

Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 

RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 

Page 34



  
 - A. 101 Revision C, received: 9th August 2018; 
 - A. 102, received: 1st August 2018; 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. No flat shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in accordance 

with drawing number A. 101 Revision C, for 5 off road vehicular parking spaces and 
5 cycle stands.  The vehicular parking spaces and stands shall thereafter be kept 
available for such purposes in perpetuity.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that vehicles are parked off the highway in the interests of road 

safety in accordance with Policies BW12 and TB11 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 4. No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the disposal of 

surface water has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the use of the development and retained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of surface water drainage in accordance with 

Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
  
 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION  
 

DATE WRITTEN 20th September 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Mel Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 3rd October  2018 

 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/18/0115 25.04.2018 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Erection of advert to side gable 
elevation 

141 High Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PL 

HARP Funeral Services 
F.a.o. Mr D Iles 
Ty Davies Funeral Home 
Pant Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3SH 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/H/18/3207827 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  28th August 2018 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



 

Page 38



 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 
 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1 AUGUST 2018 – 31 AUGUST 2018 

 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0016 

 
Land At Penlan House  
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
 

 
Erection of a two storey 
dwelling (Reserved Matters) 

 
Reserved Matters 
Approval 

 
10/08/2018 

P/18/0024 Abercanaid House  
Lewis Square 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YL 

Proposed two storey and 
single storey side and rear 
extension with raised patio 
areas.  Detached garage 
with associated 
hardstanding area, boundary 
wall and access gates 
 

Listed Building 
Approval 

24/08/2018 

P/18/0076 138 High Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PL 
 

Change of use from shop (A1 
use class) and financial and 
professional services (A2 use 
class) to a food and drink use 
(A3 use class) 
 

Refusal 01/08/2018 

P/18/0117 28 Incline Top 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TJ 
 

Erection of two storey side 
extension with first floor 
access bridge to rear garden 
and erection of front 
porch/canopy and other 
associated works 
 

Full Approval 07/08/2018 

P/18/0143 Dowlais Primary School - 
Junior Department 
High Street Caeharris 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HB 
 

Siting of cabin to contain 
classrooms, toilets and store 
rooms 

Full Approval 10/08/2018 

     

DATE WRITTEN 19th September 2018 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 3rd October 2018 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0153 

 
Land Opposite 1-4 
Caradoc Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

 
Construct a pair of 
semi-detached dwellings 

 
Full Approval 

 
14/08/2018 

P/18/0169 111 - 112 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AP 
 

Change of use at ground 
floor from retail (A1) to 
restaurant (A3), change of 
use at first floor from offices 
(A2) to four, 1 bedroom flats 
(C3) 
 

Full Approval 08/08/2018 

P/18/0177 16 Llewellyn Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SR 
 

Erection of front extension 
and canopy, creation of 
parking area within front 
garden and associated 
retaining wall 
 

Refusal 06/08/2018 

P/18/0179 16 Dan-Y-Parc View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GF 
 

Erect two storey side 
extension and new front 
porch 

Refusal 03/08/2018 

P/18/0180 Glasfryn  
1 Newton Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RJ 
 

Proposed two storey side 
extension and front and rear 
gable extensions 

Refusal 07/08/2018 

P/18/0181 8 Twelfth Avenue 
Galon Uchaf 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9TA 
 

First floor extension to side 
and rear of property 

Full Approval 28/08/2018 

P/17/0185 5 Mardy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0YH 
 

Trim branches of Lawson's 
Cypress 

Tree Works Approval 14/08/2018 

 
P/18/0192 

 
Land Opposite  
8 Railway Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

 
Construct two bedroom 
bungalow with associated 
access, parking provision and 
amenity space 
 

 
Refusal 

 
08/08/2018 

Page 42



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0194 

 
4 Newland Park 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TJ 
 

 
Proposed two storey side 
extension 

 
Full Approval 

 
09/08/2018 

P/18/0195 8 Clos Pencae 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0JH 
 

Erection of two storey rear 
extension 

Refusal 15/08/2018 

P/18/0197 Coach House  
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
CF46 5BS 

Erection of detached garage 
with associated re-profiling 
and retaining works and new 
timber gates to front 
boundary 
 

Full Approval 07/08/2018 

P/18/0201 Land Adjacent To 55 
Sweetwater Park 
Trefechan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Retention of detached 
dwelling and garage with 
associated retaining works 

Full Approval 01/08/2018 

P/18/0202 Masonic Temple 
7 Park Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8RF 
 

Refurbishment of building to 
include new roof coverings , 
reinstatement of parapet 
walls, feature chimney 
stacks and alterations to 
rainwater goods 
 

Full Approval 29/08/2018 

P/18/0203 Seven Winds  
Pant Road 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BY 

Creation of a vehicular 
access and a driveway with 
associated engineering 
works 

Refusal 15/08/2018 

 
P/18/0204 

 
2 Fir Tree Drive 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5AY 

 
Demolition of existing 
conservatory and erection of 
single storey rear extension 
with associated external 
works to raised patio area 
 

 
Full Approval 

 
21/08/2018 

Page 43



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0205 

 
Land Adjacent To 100 
Heolgerrig 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

 
Variation of condition 9 of 
planning permission 
P/17/0045 (for the erection 
of a dwelling, garage and 
other works) to allow ground 
investigation works and 
remediation to be carried 
our during works 
 

 
Removal or Variation 
of Condition - App 

 
08/08/2018 

P/18/0206 The Studio 
Church Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0EE 
 

Erection of single storey 
extension to provide 
bedroom and wet room and 
access ramp 

Full Approval 22/08/2018 

P/18/0210 46 Six Bells Estate 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TU 

Demolition of existing 
conservatory and erection of 
single storey rear extension 
(Certificate of Lawful 
Development) 
 

Certificate of Law 
Granted 

06/08/2018 

P/18/0214 Retail Pod At 
Asda Store 
Pengarnddu Industrial 
Estate 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2YF 
 

Erection of three fascia signs 
, two wall signs and two 
poster signs 

Advertisement 
Approval 

15/08/2018 

P/18/0215 17 Glynmil Close 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GE 
 

Proposed garage conversion Full Approval 15/08/2018 

P/18/0216 The Pavillion 
Oakland Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
 

Retrospective change of use 
of the Bowls Pavilion to a 
nursery 

Full Approval 17/08/2018 

 
P/18/0016 

 
Land At Penlan House  
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
 

 
Erection of a two storey 
dwelling (Reserved Matters) 

 
Reserved Matters 
Approval 

 
10/08/2018 

Page 44



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0218 

 
Family Wellbeing Centre 
Heol Parc-Y-Lan 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HB 
 

 
Erect two awnings 
(canopies) on the southern 
elevation 

 
Full Approval 

 
21/08/2018 

P/18/0219 Family Centre 
Heol Parc-Y-Lan 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HB 
 

Variation of condition 2 of 
planning permission 
P/16/0322 to allow an 
alternative design for the 
hard and soft landscaping 
areas 
 

Removal or Variation 
of Condition - App 

21/08/2018 

P/18/0220 Telephone Exchange 
Merthyr Road 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Installation of a galvanised 
aluminium acoustic louvre 

Full Approval 22/08/2018 

P/18/0221 1 Garth Cottages 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0EX 
 

Creation of roof terrace 
above existing single storey 
rear annexe with galvanised 
railings and privacy screen 
including alteration to 
existing annexe roof 
 

Full Approval 23/08/2018 

 
P/18/0222 

1 Somerset Close 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NY 

Demolition of existing 
conservatory and erection of 
new sun lounge, creation of 
2 no. off street parking bays 
and erection of new railings, 
creation of patio area 
including retaining works 
and other external works 
 

Full Approval 23/08/2018 

 
P/18/0016 

 
Land At Penlan House  
Pentwyn Road 
Treharris 
 

 
Erection of a two storey 
dwelling (Reserved Matters) 

 
Reserved Matters 
Approval 

 
10/08/2018 

Page 45



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

 
P/18/0225 

 
Land Adjacent To  
1 Glasier Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

 
Non material amendments 
to planning permission 
P/17/0292 to revise the 
siting of the containers (and 
associated paths etc) and 
the layout of the car parking 
(and associated landscaping) 
 

 
Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

 
06/08/2018 

P/18/0228 10 Pandy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PB 
 

Single storey extension to 
side and rear with rear 
dormer extension 

Full Approval 28/08/2018 

 
P/18/0234 

5 Martin Close 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TY 
 

Erection of rear dormer 
extension 

Full Approval 28/08/2018 

 
P/18/0256 

Land To The Rear Of Six 
Bells Estate 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Maintenance of oak trees 
subject to group TPO (No. 
14) 

Tree Works Approval 29/08/2018 

 

Page 46



Document is Restricted

Page 47

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 51

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Planning and Regulatory Fact Finding Visit - 19.09.2018
	4 P/16/0094 - Blaen y Garth Farm, Blaen y Garth Access Road, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 2UY
	5 P/18/0209 - Former Mackintosh Hotel, Aberfan Road, Aberfan, Merthyr Tydfil
	6 Appeal Decision - P/18/0115
	7 Delegated Report
	8 Private Hire Vehicle Licence
	Appendix 1


